
 
 

 
eastsussex.gov.uk 

CABINET 
 
TUESDAY, 10 NOVEMBER 2020 
 
9.30 AM COUNTY HALL, LEWES 
 

++Please note that this meeting is taking place remotely++ 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP -  Councillor Keith Glazier (Chair)  

Councillors Nick Bennett (Vice Chair), Bill Bentley, Claire Dowling, 
Carl Maynard, Rupert Simmons, Bob Standley and Sylvia Tidy 

 
A G E N D A  
 
1   Minutes of the meeting held on 2 October 2020  (Pages 3 - 4) 

 
2   Apologies for absence   

 
3   Disclosures of interests   

Disclosures by all members present of personal interests in matters on the agenda, the 
nature of any interest and whether the member regards the interest as prejudicial under 
the terms of the Code of Conduct. 

 
4   Urgent items   

Notification of items which the Chair considers to be urgent and proposes to take at the 
appropriate part of the agenda. Any members who wish to raise urgent items are asked, 
wherever possible, to notify the Chair before the start of the meeting. In so doing, they 
must state the special circumstances which they consider justify the matter being 
considered urgent. 

 
5   Coronavirus Update  (Pages 5 - 22) 

Report by Chief Executive 
 

6a   Scrutiny Review of Road Markings - Report of the Place Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 23 
- 38) 
Report by Assistant Chief Executive 
 

6b   Scrutiny Review of Road Markings - Observations on the Scrutiny Committee's report  
(Pages 39 - 42) 
Report by the Director of Communities, Economy and Transport 
 

7   Any other items considered urgent by the Chair   
 

8   To agree which items are to be reported to the County Council   
 

 
PHILIP BAKER 
Assistant Chief Executive   
County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent 
LEWES BN7 1UE 2 November 2020 
 
Contact Andy Cottell, 01273 481955,  
Email: andy.cottell@eastsussex.gov.uk  



 

 
NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this 
meeting will be broadcast live on its website and the record archived. The live broadcast is 
accessible at: www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.htm 
  
 

http://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.htm


 
 
 

 

CABINET 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Cabinet held on 2 October 2020 at Council Chamber, County 
Hall, Lewes 
 

 
PRESENT Councillors Keith Glazier (Chair) 
 Councillors Nick Bennett (Vice Chair), Bill Bentley, Claire Dowling, 

Carl Maynard, Rupert Simmons, Bob Standley and Sylvia Tidy 
 

 Members spoke on the items indicated  
 

Councillor Barnes  - item 6 (minute 24) 
Councillor Bennett   - items 5 and 6 (minutes 23 and 24) 
Councillor Charles Clark - Item 6 (minute 24) 
Councillor Godfrey Daniel - item 6 (minute 24) 
Councillor Philip Daniel - items 5 and 6 (minutes 23 and 24) 
Councillor Field            - item 6 (minute 24) 
Councillor Stephen Shing - item 6 (minute 24) 
Councillor Shuttleworth  - item 6 (minute 24) 
Councillor Standley   - item 5 (minute 23) 
Councillor Swansborough - item 6 (minute 24) 
Councillor Tutt   - item 6 (minute 24) 

 
22 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 14 JULY 2020  
 
22.1 The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 14 July 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 
23 COUNCIL MONITORING: QUARTER 1 2020/21  
 
23.1 The Cabinet considered a report by the Chief Executive. 
 
23.2 It was RESOLVED to note the latest monitoring position for the Council. 
 
Reason 
 
23.3 The report sets out the Council’s position and year end projections for the Council Plan 
targets, Revenue Budget, Capital Programme, Savings Plan together with Risks for 2020/21 
quarter 1. 
 
24 RECONCILING POLICY, PERFORMANCE AND RESOURCES - UPDATE  
 
24.1 The Cabinet considered a report by the Chif Executive. 
 
24.2 It was RESOLVED to: 
 

1. note the updated national policy context and local position as set out in 
paragraphs 2 and 3 and appendix 1; 

 
2. agree the updated Council priority outcomes and delivery outcomes as the basis 

for ongoing planning (appendix 2); 
 
3. agree the updated East Sussex Core Offer as the basis for ongoing planning 

(appendix 3); 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 
 
 

 

4. agree the updated Medium Term Financial Plan as the basis for financial 
planning (appendix 5); and 

 

5. agree to continue lobbying for a sustainable funding regime to meet the needs of 
the residents of East Sussex and which recognises the significant impact of COVID-19 on the 
Council’s expenditure and income.  

 
Reason 
 
24.3 The report sets out our updated understanding of how we will need to reset our service 
and financial plans to deal with the future, as we continue to live with the reality of a world with 
COVID-19 and the significant impact this has on people’s lives, as well as a fast-moving 
national policy agenda. In this rapidly evolving context it remains very challenging to quantify 
future need for services and national expectations for local government and to reflect these in 
our future service offer and financial planning. The report therefore provides our latest best 
assessment of the policy and financial context that will continue to inform our planning for 
2021/22, and includes: 

 updates on key national and local policy context developments since July; 

 an update on the review of the Council’s priority outcomes and delivery outcomes;  

 an update on the review and reset of the East Sussex Core Offer; 

 the updated Medium Term Financial Plan for 2021/22-2023/24; and  

 updates to the Capital Programme.  
 
25 ITEMS  TO BE REPORTED TO THE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 
25.1 The Cabinet agreed that item 5 should be reported to the County Council. 
[Note: The item being reported to the County Council refers to minute number 23] 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

 

 

Report to: Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 10 November 2020 

By: Chief Executive 

Title: Coronavirus Update  

Purpose: To provide a further update on the measures the Council has 
taken in response to the coronavirus pandemic. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Cabinet is recommended to note the report. 
 

 
1 Background 
 
1.1 Staff across the Council remain involved in a huge amount of work to support the 
national and local response to the Covid-19 pandemic. We have continued to change and 
adapt services to meet the evolving situation over the summer and autumn, and to prioritise 
looking after the most vulnerable people and preventing Covid-19 transmission wherever 
possible.  
 
1.2 Since the last update to Cabinet in early June, the Council has responded to 
Government’s gradual loosening of national lockdown arrangements, adapting services to 
be Covid-secure, while capturing the lessons learnt from different ways of working. Some 
staff have worked from office bases or directly with clients throughout the pandemic, with 
appropriate safeguards in place, where this has been essential to maintain services. Where 
possible and appropriate, frontline services which had needed to close have reopened 
and/or returned to face to face working with safeguards in place. Where remote working has 
proved efficient and effective this is continuing in line with Government guidance in order to 
help contain the spread of the virus and to prioritise the use of buildings for essential 
purposes. 
 
1.3 We are also undertaking our service and financial planning in the new context. 
Through our well-established Reconciling Policy, Performance and Resources (RPPR) 
process we are integrating planning for the recovery from Covid-19 with our understanding 
of other trends and pressures to form an integrated view of future service needs. The 
changes we have made and economic upheaval brought about by the pandemic will have 
profound and potentially permanent impacts on our services and finances which need to be 
factored into our planning.  
 
1.4 We are continuing to keep a careful record of all the additional costs we have 
incurred as result of the decisions we have made in order to tackle the pandemic. Whilst the 
Government has partially recognised the additional costs to local government and has made 
additional funding available, it is insufficient to meet all the pressures we face, particularly in 
relation to adult social care and costs in future years. We will need to continue to lobby 
strongly for continuing funding to meet residents’ needs and to support recovery.  
 
1.5 Members have received regular briefings on the work the Council is undertaking to 
help tackle the Covid-19 outbreak. This report provides an update on the latest position to 
the week ending 30 October. Full details of the changes to our services continue to be 
available on our website.  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

 

1.6 On 31 October, the Prime Minister announced new national restrictions to come into 
effect from 5 November to limit the spread of coronavirus. These restrictions include a 
requirement to only leave home for specific reasons and the closure on non-essential 
shops, leisure and entertainment venues. The furlough scheme that was due to end has 
been extended another month in support of the business closure measures. We are working 
to understand the implications of the measures for the way we work and deliver services, 
and the potential impact on our residents, businesses and partners to consider any changes 
in support that will be needed.   
 
This report covers: 
 

2. Covid-19 in East Sussex 11. Highways and Transport 

3.        Outbreak planning/test and trace 12.      Parking charges 

4. Adult Social Care 13.      Active travel programme 

5. Children’s Services 14.      Business Services 

6. PPE 15. Member Meetings 

7. Shielded Cohort 16. Communications 

8. Trading Standards 17. Financial Implications 

9. Libraries 18. Economy 

10. Waste Recycling Sites 19. Recovery and next steps 

 
2. Covid-19 in East Sussex  
 
2.1 Overall, East Sussex has experienced lower levels of total confirmed cases than the 
national average, and this is the case for each of the five District and Borough Councils 
within the county. In East Sussex cases reduced from April and early May, which was the 
first wave of the pandemic, with low numbers and an overall decline throughout June, July 
and August. As cases started rising nationally at the beginning of September, East Sussex 
saw a similar pattern of rising cases albeit at a smaller rate. Although cases continued rising 
nationally the trend then initially reversed in East Sussex, before again increasing. 
 
2.2 The weekly rate of cases in England has shown a significant increase in September 
and October and is currently at 224 per 100,000. Although the East Sussex weekly rate is 
significantly lower than the England weekly rate (64 compared to 224), the past week has 
shown a large increase. Cases in the last 14 days continue to show a higher proportion 
amongst younger age groups than we have seen overall since the pandemic started. 
 
Table: Confirmed cases, as of 28 October 2020 

 All confirmed cases to date 
7-day period 

17th Oct to 23rd Oct 

 Cases 

Rate per 

100,000 

population 

LA rank 

* 
Cases 

Rate per 

100,000 

population 

LA rank 

* 

England 799,019 1,420  126,061 224  

South East 70,898 772  9,153 100  

East Sussex 3,098 556 145/149 358 64 147/149 

Eastbourne 745 718 256/315 78 75 277/315 

Hastings 382 412 306/315 47 51 303/315 

Lewes 646 626 273/315 82 79 267/315 

Rother 374 389 307/315 40 42 310/315 

Wealden 951 589 279/315 111 69 281/315 

Page 6



 

 

*where 1 = highest rate. Ranks are out of 149 upper tier local authorities and 315 lower tier 
local authorities 

Source: https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk 

 

2.3 Hospitalisations from Covid-19 and also deaths associated with Covid-19 remained 
low in the county through most of the summer. The numbers started to increase at the 
beginning of October and as of 28 October there were 17 patients with Covid-19 in hospital 
across East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust and 30 at Brighton & Sussex University 
Hospitals NHS Trust. There have been six deaths occurring since the start of September 
where Covid-19 was mentioned on the death certificate. 
 
2.4  Public Health continually monitors the situation in consultation with health and 
borough and district partners. This includes reviewing recent cases, identifying areas that 
may not be Covid-secure, and proactively supporting businesses and other settings to 
prevent cases and limit the spread of potential outbreaks. On a weekly basis this involves 
key partners understanding the latest Covid-19 infections and agreeing the local operational 
response. 
 
3. Outbreak planning/test and trace  
 
3.1 Government launched a national Covid-19 Contain Framework in mid-July, which set 
out how NHS Test and Trace and the Joint Biosecurity Centre will work with local 
authorities, Public Health England (PHE) and the public to contain and manage local Covid-
19 outbreaks. The framework provided further guidance on roles, responsibilities and 
powers of Upper Tier Local Authorities (UTLA) in managing local outbreaks, following 
publication of Local Outbreak Management Plans by all UTLAs in June. Government has 
allocated funding to UTLAs to support development and delivery of these plans. ESCC has 
received £2.5m which is being used to support implementation of the East Sussex Local 
Outbreak Control Plan approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board in July. The move to 
localised management of outbreaks is part of the Government’s strategy to undertake a 
targeted response, employ smarter restrictions and limit nation-wide restrictions as far as is 
possible to manage the pandemic. However, Government reinstated some nation-wide 
restrictions following a national increase in COVID-19 case rates since early September, 
before announcing a month-long national lockdown at the end of October. 
 
3.2 The second iteration of the East Sussex Outbreak Control Plan was reported to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board in September. This included an escalation framework which set 
out the points at which local cases or outbreaks may require an escalated response, 
communications and action with partners. In consultation with local partners, the Director of 
Public Health agreed East Sussex should move from ‘monitor and contain’ to ‘raised local 
alertness’ on the escalation framework in September in response to the rising number of 
cases. The framework is now being updated again to take account of the new national alert 
levels which consist of three levels, or tiers: Medium (Tier 1), High (Tier 2), and Very High 
(Tier 3). East Sussex is currently at the lowest alert level: Medium, or Tier 1.  
 
3.3 Test and trace continues to be led nationally. People with symptoms of coronavirus 
are able to access a test through the national website. East Sussex has taken up the offer 
to support the national NHS Test and Trace system with local contact tracing. Final plans 
are being agreed with the national team for this to be activated imminently. 
 
3.4 The local contact tracing model developed for the county sees the West Sussex 
County Council customer services call centre managing the East Sussex and West Sussex 
contact tracing call operations. The telephone number seen by the person contacted will be 
an East Sussex local number, not a number withheld, with reply facility via text, email and 

Page 7

https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/


 

 

voicemail. The service will operate between 8am-8pm seven days a week. Names and 
contact details will be checked with all District and Borough Councils through their records, 
council tax, benefits system and housing. Specialist oversight will be offered by the local 
Public Health Team. House calls will be undertaken, in exceptional circumstances, by 
District and Borough Environmental Health teams where someone is uncontactable. This 
may become more frequent in a lockdown situation, as people are unable to top up pay-as-
you-go mobile phones. Where the individual answers the door, the Environmental Health 
Officer will discuss the positive result, social distancing requirements, extra support needs 
and identify contacts to feed back for entry into the national system. Where there is no 
answer, a ‘sorry I missed you’ postcard will be left with contact details. 
 
3.5 On 24 September 2020 the national NHS test and trace app was launched and will 
alert users if they have been in contact with a confirmed case of Covid-19 and advise them 
to self-isolate. Council staff are able to access testing through national schemes and also 
can contact Human Resources if there are capacity issues. 
 
3.6 A regional testing site opened at Plumpton Racecourse on 2 October 2020 which is 
drive-in only. There are also local testing sites in Bexhill and Eastbourne (Eastbourne 
opened on 9 October 2020). A new walk-through testing centre opened on 16 October at 
the former Helenswood Academy upper school car park in Hastings, making more tests 
available for Hastings residents, particularly those who don’t have access to a private 
vehicle. In addition, mobile testing units, which can be directed to areas of concern for two 
to three days a month, have been to Uckfield, Eastbourne, Lewes and Hastings recently.  

 
3.7 Care home testing for residents and staff continues to be challenging. Care homes 
report frequent delays in test results coming back to homes which makes staffing 
arrangements difficult to plan. Some homes have had to repeat tests due to the results not 
being returned, which can be a cause of anxiety for residents, especially those with 
dementia and learning disabilities.  
 
3.8 In an outbreak situation the PHE health protection team will lead on the testing of all 
staff and residents on day 1 and again for the people testing negative on days 4 to 7. 
Residents who test positive for Covid-19 should not be included in whole home testing until 
90 days after the original positive test, unless they develop new symptoms. There is a one-
off offer of whole home testing for specialist settings such as those in supported living, 
which will be rolled out in the next two months. 
 
3.9 There is now a legal requirement for people to self-isolate when they test positive for 
Covid-19 or are instructed to by NHS Test and Trace. New fines have been brought in to 
enforce the requirement. People on lower incomes who cannot work from home and have 
lost income as a result of being asked to self-isolate will receive a payment of £500, 
administered via District and Borough Councils. 
 
4. Adult Social Care  
 
4.1 Earlier this year, Government established an Adult Social Care (ASC) Taskforce to 
oversee delivery of support to the social care sector in its response to Covid-19; and of the 
Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC) Social Care Action Plan. As part of its work, 
the Taskforce was commissioned to advise the Minister of State for Social Care on what 
needed to be in place in the care sector in England to respond to Covid-19 ahead of winter. 
The final report of the Taskforce, published in late September, includes 52 
recommendations for Government, local authorities, the NHS and others within the health 
and social care system. We are working through the recommendations with our partners 
across the local health and social care system.  
 

Page 8



 

 

4.2 The Taskforce recommendations have informed Government’s ASC Winter Plan, 
also published in September, setting out its ambitions for and challenges facing the social 
care sector this winter. The plan outlines actions DHSC is taking and actions local systems 
(councils, the NHS and Voluntary and Community Sector) should take to ensure that high-
quality, safe and timely care is provided to everyone who needs it, whilst protecting people 
who need care, their carers and the social care workforce from Covid-19.  
 
4.3 The plan outlines a wide-range of actions that local systems and DHSC are already 
taking to provide care while reducing transmission of Covid-19. Further actions the plan 
outlines DHSC is taking include:  

 working up a designation scheme with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) for 
premises that are safe for people leaving hospital who have tested positive for 
COVID-19 or are awaiting a test result – although it will remain councils’ 
responsibility to provide alternative accommodation in local systems for supporting 
people with a positive test result requiring care;  

 providing free Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) (for Covid-19 needs in line with 
current guidance) to care homes and domiciliary care providers via the PPE portal 
until the end of March 2021; 

 providing free PPE to local resilience forums (LRFs) who wish to continue PPE 
distribution, and to local authorities in other areas, to distribute to social care 
providers ineligible for supply via the PPE portal, until the end of March 2021; 

 working with local authorities and the CQC to strengthen their monitoring and 
regulation role to ensure infection prevention and control procedures are taking 
place;  

 publishing a new online Adult Social Care Dashboard, bringing together data from 
the Capacity Tracker and other sources;  

 publishing information about effective local and regional protocols and operational 
procedures based on what we have learnt so far to support areas with local 
outbreaks and/or increased community transmission; and  

 in partnership with the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services and Local 
Government Association, carrying out a Service Continuity and Care Market Review 
in the autumn to understand the robustness of the plans local authorities have in 
place, and what additional support may be needed. 

 
4.4 The primary new and additional actions for ESCC resulting from the plan are:  

 to put in a place an East Sussex Winter Plan building on existing planning, including 
the East Sussex Local Outbreak Plan and in the context of planning for the end of the 
Brexit Transition Period, by 31 October;   

 provide free PPE to care providers ineligible for the PPE portal (supplied by DHSC) 
when required (including for personal assistants) directly until March 2021;  

 to work with local partners to carry out learning reviews after each care home 
outbreak to identify and share lessons learned;  

 to ensure care providers carry out testing as set out in the testing strategy and, 
together with NHS organisations, provide local support for testing in adult social care 
if needed;  

 for the Director of Public Health to regularly assess whether visiting care homes is 
appropriate, taking into account the wider risk environment and immediately moving 
to stop visiting if an area becomes an ‘area of intervention’, except in exceptional 
circumstances such as end of life; 

 to work alongside the CQC to ensure care homes are taking necessary steps to 
prevent spread of the virus and follow up with care providers that are not limiting staff 
movement; and  

 establish a weekly joint communication from the Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health and Director of Public Health to go to all local providers of adult social care. 

Page 9



 

 

 
4.5 Government has also requested all councils complete a care market sustainability 
self-assessment. This will be reported to the Minister of Care, through DHSC. The Minister 
is seeking assurance that care markets are sustainable though the winter period and where 
this cannot be provided the intention is to provide support to councils to address any 
identified challenges. 
 
4.6 Government has committed to continue to engage across the sector to understand 
needs as they develop throughout the winter and provide appropriate support. We will 
continue to engage and emphasise the need for a sustainable funding settlement for social 
care, that reflects the scale of investment made in the NHS, and the need to limit self-
assessment/assurance/Government reporting to free-up fundamental capacity to deliver.  
 
4.7    Government has provided a second £546m tranche of Infection Control Funding, to be 
distributed by councils to care providers, to support delivery of their plans. This is a new 
grant, with revised conditions from the original Infection Control Fund and additional 
reporting requirements. East Sussex's total allocation of this funding is £8.3m, 80% of which 
must be paid across to care homes and community providers in the East Sussex 
geographical area, including providers with whom the local authority does not have existing 
contracts. The funding will help providers with the extra costs of infection prevention and 
control measures, including payment of care workers who are self-isolating, restricting 
workforce movement and avoidance of the use of public transport. The remaining 20% can 
be spent on supporting care providers to take additional steps to tackle the risk of Covid-19 
infections but can be allocated at the local authority’s discretion. £588m has also been 
provided for the NHS to support people needing additional follow-on care after they have 
been discharged from hospital. From 1 September 2020 to 31 March 2021, the NHS will 
fund up to the first six weeks of support following hospital discharge, during which 
assessments will be carried out to determine ongoing care and funding arrangements. 
 
4.8 Many community based local care providers continue to operate with reduced 
capacity and many continue to deliver support in different ways due to social distancing 
requirements. For example, due to social distancing requirements, day service providers are 
not able to run at full capacity. Alternative support provided to day service clients has 
included regular telephone calls, zoom sessions, sending out resource packs, visiting clients 
in their gardens or supporting them on socially distanced walks. Some providers have now 
started to support clients with tasks in their home and to provide carer respite where this 
has been appropriate, until such time as they can support them in the day service again. 
  
4.9 Adult Social Care and the East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust continue to work in 
close partnership to support the timely discharge of patients from hospital into care homes.  
Maintaining staffing levels whilst staff are self-isolating; supporting residents to self-isolate 
(especially residents with dementia); adhering to testing and infection, prevention and 
control requirements and facilitating safe visiting arrangements for families and carers, all 
continue to be challenges for care homes.   
 
4.10 Adult Social Care and Health continue to support providers though the provision of 
up to date information and guidance through the regular e-bulletin which is circulated to 
around 1200 recipients. In partnership with the East Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG), Adult Social Care and Public Health run weekly care home meetings, with provider 
representatives. These online meetings provide care homes with the opportunity to discuss 
current issues with health and social care partners, including GP and clinical leads. In 
addition, the weekly Incident Management Team meetings agree the health and social care 
system support and response required for care homes where Covid-19 outbreaks have 
occurred, or where other more general infection, prevention and control support is needed. 
  

Page 10



 

 

4.11 The East Sussex Care Homes Resilience Plan, published in May 2020, has been 
reviewed and refreshed. It is being delivered by the East Sussex Care Homes Group which 
has representation from all key stakeholders including the East Sussex Registered Care 
Association and Healthwatch.  
 
5. Children’s Services 
 
Schools  

5.1 Pupils returned to schools and colleges at the start of September with education 
settings putting a ‘system of controls’ in place to keep students and staff safe, focused 
around minimising direct contact and maintaining social distancing wherever possible. The 
Council has been working with schools to implement the Government guidance. 

5.2 Since reopening, attendance figures for individual schools and settings have 
fluctuated week by week as parents and carers respond to the national public health picture. 
The average daily attendance as a percentage of registered pupils was as follows during 
September and the first half of October: 
 

w/c Monday 7 September 65.2% 

w/c Monday 14 September 76.8% 

w/c Monday 21 September 80.2% 

w/c Monday 28 September 79.8% 

w/c Monday 5 October 87.7% 

w/c Monday 12 October 89.5% 

 
In the first two weeks of term, schools phased the students return and attendance figures 
were also skewed by several INSET days across all schools and settings.  
 
5.3 Although looking at attendance data can give some information about how schools 
are coping in the current climate; the data can change so quickly that it is not as reliable as 
a school performance measure as in previous years. The data above comes from the 
Department for Education (DfE) but it is important to note that it is not verifiable as there are 
several schools who do not complete their returns on a daily basis. This data also does not 
consider the students who are marked as being in attendance, but who are self-isolating 
and accessing learning from home. ISEND will produce a much clearer, verified set of 
attendance data by early November. Throughout the academic year, reports on attendance 
will be produced monthly and will show the data for the preceding month. 
 
5.4 Education settings re-opened in places elsewhere in the country which were subject 
to local restrictions and Government has been clear that re-introduction of restrictions on 
education and childcare settings is to be considered only once all other possible measures 
have been taken. A tiered system of restrictions has been established to guide the phased 
introduction that would take place in circumstances where areas that are subject to national 
intervention require some level of restriction to education or childcare settings. Tier 1 
restrictions apply to all areas subject to local intervention; all schools remain open but with a 
requirement for adults and pupils in settings educating years 7 and over to wear face 
coverings in communal areas where it is not possible to socially distance. Guidance has 
been provided to support settings to plan for how they would implement tier 2 restrictions - 
moving to a rota model, combining on-site provision with remote education - if required. 
Tiers 3 and 4 involve further limiting students attending on site in different education 
settings. 
 
5.5 There has been an increased expectation on councils to support schools this year: 
with partial closure; with providing places for vulnerable children and children of keyworkers 
in lockdown; with provision of remote learning in lockdown; and recently with making 

Page 11



 

 

preparations to re-open. In this new context, the focus of the Standards and Learning 
Effectiveness Service (SLES) for the 2020/21 academic year will be on:  

 Planning, preparation and support for schools in potential local lockdowns – see 5.4 
above; 

 Increased support for vulnerable pupils, including safeguarding, addressing learning 
loss and ensuring attendance;  

 Ongoing co-ordination of services for schools;  

 Managing the impact of Covid-19 on early years providers and ensuring that we 
maintain sufficient places for the future; and 

 Supporting young people into Education, Employment and Training during a period of 
rising unemployment and economic downturn that will disproportionately impact 18-
24 year olds.   

 
5.6 The Council provided advice and support to schools throughout the lockdown period 
and the summer holidays and this has continued as schools return for the new academic 
year. There have been some school and bubble closures across the county, but schools 
have felt confident in the steps to take as a result of good communication from the Council 
and the availability of members of the SLES team to talk directly to headteachers.  
 
5.7 The twice weekly Message Board has been updated regularly with the latest 
guidance regarding necessary actions to take when schools are informed of a confirmed or 
suspected case of Covid-19. Schools have also been provided, through the Message 
Board, with regularly updated model risk assessments and contingency plans which they 
have used to inform their own plans for reopening safely. The Council is keeping a record of 
which schools have had their risk assessments reviewed and approved by the governing 
body and is analysing any potential risk as a result. In schools where there are positive 
cases of Covid-19, the protocols are being followed and the Council has been informed of 
bubble or school closures. The Council is also working with Public Health England to 
identify and track cases in schools across East Sussex. 
 
5.8 Schools have contingency plans in place in the event of future local or national 
lockdowns, including plans for remote learning. Via the Message Board, headteachers 
receive DfE updates about remote learning expectations and support. Alongside this, the 
Council has provided research on the principles of remote learning and examples of 
practice from schools. This guidance document presents solutions for schools to consider 
when faced with pupil disengagement with remote learning, remote provision for pupils with 
SEND and pupils being unable to access technology. It also suggests ways to educate 
pupils when only a small number need to isolate and learn remotely. The term one primary 
and special school adviser visits include discussions about the schools’ contingency plans, 
risk assessments and remote learning plans. 
 
5.9 Schools across East Sussex are keen to continue with the schools’ partnership peer 
review system and, considering the new challenges that schools are facing this year, the 
usual model has been adapted and transformed into a rapid response model. Schools will 
continue their peer reviews but will shift focus to reviewing and supporting each other with 
issues arising from Covid-19. In partnership, schools will work together to look at: how the 
school is organised; how assessment is being used to ensure all needs are being met and 
gaps addressed; how mental health and wellbeing is being supported; how pupils are 
engaging with learning; and how to adopt, adapt or abandon practice from the lockdown 
period. 
 
5.10 The number of new Electively Home Educated (EHE) children has increased by 67% 
compared to this time last year (term one 2019/20 146 new cases, at the end of term one 
2020/21 there were 244 new cases). This reflects reporting nationally about a likely increase 
in EHE requests following the Coronavirus lockdown. There are currently 1192 children (as 

Page 12



 

 

at 20 October 2020) being EHE in East Sussex. In recognition of the growth over time, 
which is not slowing, and the safeguarding risks associated with delayed screening of and 
visits to vulnerable EHE children, additional resources have been agreed to increase 
capacity in our dedicated EHE team. 
 
Home to School Transport 
 
5.11 In the summer, national guidance was published on transport provision to support the 
return of schools and colleges in September. This set out that, as capacity on public 
transport is limited, local authorities needed to put in place local demand management 
solutions for public services, and supplement the public bus network, and existing home to 
school transport, with additional capacity to ensure that children could travel to school 
safely, and disruption for all passengers on the public network was minimised. The 
Transport Team made arrangements to support school returns accordingly, including 
working with operators to ensure sufficient provision on the network of bus services used by 
school children travelling to schools in East Sussex and to other neighbouring authorities. 
  
5.12 The County Council has been allocated £0.8m by the DfE to assist in securing 
additional transport capacity until the end of the December school term. We are expecting 
future resource for January to March but this has not yet been confirmed.  
 
Early Years Sector (EYS) Providers 
 
5.13  Providers across the whole sector are working hard to sustain their businesses. The 
Council recognised this and has supported them since the country went into lockdown in 
March. The impact on demand for all providers has been dynamic. In the period March to 
August 2020 the focus was on childcare provision for key workers’ children and those 
identified vulnerable children. In April East Sussex had only 40% of its early years provision 
open, reflecting the national trend. As the lockdown period began, and the economic impact 
began to be felt, it became apparent that the demand on all the early years funding 
entitlements, including for the least advantaged two-year olds, universal three and four year 
olds, and the 30 hours entitlement would change moving forward. Future demand for paid-
for childcare, and/or the ability for families to access additional services and pay additional 
charges remain unknown.  
 
5.14 Since June, as the country came out of lockdown, early years providers that had 
closed due to Covid-19 began to re-open. The number of providers open steadily increased 
to over 90% by September. A range of action has been undertaken by Children’s Services 
since March to support both early years providers to remain sustainable, and families to 
ensure that vulnerable and key worker children had access to a childcare place if needed. 
This included: confirming that ESCC would continue to pay Early Years Education 
Entitlement (EYEE) grant to all providers that remained open or closed due to Covid-19 in 
the summer 2020 funding period; providing a brokering service to support families of 
vulnerable/keyworker children who need childcare provision; ensuring identified vulnerable 
children are supported in their childcare place; and providing regular and targeted 
communication, advice and information to early years providers. From September 2020, the 
Council will provide financial support to early years providers where the expected level of 
funding for two, three and four year olds is lower than expected and lower than their autumn 
2019 return. This support also includes the deficit between 2020 and 2019 non-funded 
hours accessed by children claiming the early years entitlement.  
 
Digital Devices for Disadvantaged Children to access Remote Education 
 
5.15 During the lockdown, the Council supported the allocation of 1,187 laptops and 
tablets to the most vulnerable Year 10 pupils, under a DfE scheme aimed at ensuring pupils 

Page 13



 

 

could continue learning at home. East Sussex was the first local authority to order laptops 
and committed additional resources to address the gap between DfE allocations and 
targeted pupils in year 10 requiring equipment to access online learning. Working in 
partnership with Uni Connect and Hastings Opportunity Area, further resource enabled us to 
order in excess of 200 additional devices to support our most vulnerable learners. 

5.16 On 1 October the DfE announced extra resources to support delivery of remote 
education, including 100,000 additional devices and increased peer to peer support for 
teachers. The new support includes additional laptops to be made available for those 
children most in need, as well as expanding the EdTech Demonstrator programme to 
ensure schools and teachers can make best use of technology available to them to enhance 
the at-home learning given to their pupils. Individual school across East Sussex will order 
devices themselves based on their needs, supported by Schools ICT.  
 
Vulnerable Groups 
 
5.17 From 30 March to the end of July the Council set up a Vulnerable Children Risk 
Assessment Group (VCRAG) to monitor vulnerable pupils and support their access to 
learning and safety. For a final, high risk, cohort of pupils who did not return to school in 
September the process also ran from 7 September to 9 October.  Information was collated 
in relation to vulnerable groups and was linked to a core attendance recovery offer from 
Education Support, Behaviour and Attendance Service (ESBAS) for every primary, 
secondary and special school who submitted a return. As at 16 October 2020:  

 208 pupils have not yet returned;  

 of those, 94 are in at least one vulnerable category (45%); and 

 over the five week period, non-returners have decreased from 856 to 208. 
 
5.18 In the event of a local lockdown, or multiple local lockdowns at “Tiers of Restriction” 1 
or 2 a centralised VCRAG process will not be required.  Secondary schools and FE colleges 
will be required to remotely safeguard students who are not in school for the rota periods 
and where there are significant concerns these should be referred to the Single Point of 
Advice (SPOA) following regular procedures. In the event of a Tier 3 or 4 lockdown within 
any district in East Sussex, VCRAG processes will be initiated.  
 
5.19 Should there be a local or national lockdown that results in partial school closures, 
the Council’s focus in relation to children with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP)  
will be on ensuring school attendance; that is the best way of securing high quality EHCP 
provision and ensuring children with EHCPs do not fall further behind following an extended 
period of disruption. The Council will follow the Government guidance that is issued at the 
time, which may have different recommendations and expectations. 
 
Children’s Social Care 
  
5.20 A suite of performance indicators is reviewed weekly to keep an overview of what is 
happening in terms of contacts with children’s services teams.   
 
Front Door contacts  
5.21 We saw an initial reduction in activity in the front door teams during lockdown. To 
ensure that children remained safe, the social work teams risk assessed all the vulnerable 
children on their caseloads and also worked with colleagues in schools and the SLES to 
maintain oversight of a larger group of children. Referrals from the Police to the social work 
teams were also at higher levels during the lockdown and referrals from schools were at 
much lower levels. With the return of schools in September, the number of contacts to the 
Single Point of Advice (SPOA) is now approaching pre-lockdown levels. From 6 January to 
22 March the average was 246 per week. The average since the start of the Autumn term, 

Page 14



 

 

as at 12 October, is 253. The number of contacts from schools is also approaching pre-
lockdown levels. From 6 January to 22 March the average was 55 per week. In the four 
weeks up to 12 October the average number of contacts from schools was 46. Although 
referrals into the social work teams have remained broadly stable overall, proportions are 
being rebalanced as Police referrals decrease and referrals from schools increase once 
more. 
 
Children on Child Protection (CP) Plans  
5.22 The number of children on a CP Plan continued to rise over the summer with an 
increase of 17% overall. The number of children on CP plans increased from 544 in the 
week commencing 16 March to 637 at the end of September. This was in part due to CP 
plans not ceasing as it was difficult to end plans safely if children were not being seen 
regularly at school and some contact by social work staff was happening virtually. Targeted 
work is now underway to focus on a safe reduction in the number of plans now that more 
face to face visiting is taking place and more children are in school. As a result of this work 
the number of CP Plans as at 11 October had reduced to 599. 
 
Residential Units  
 
5.23 The five children’s homes and Lansdowne Secure Unit have remained open 
throughout, although residential respite support for disabled children had to be severely 
curtailed and the number of visitors to all the buildings strictly limited. The Lansdowne 
Secure Unit experienced a Covid outbreak at the start of lockdown with a number of staff 
and some children testing positive. This was managed via strict infection control measures 
and all of the homes have used personal protective equipment and additional hygiene 
measures to keep children and staff safe.    
 
6. Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
 
6.1 Emergency PPE provision via the Sussex Resilience Forum (SRF) ceased on 18 
September. The County Council has issued over 1.1 million items of SRF sourced stock to 
the local health and care system since April 2020. CQC registered providers are now able to 
access PPE through the Government’s PPE portal. Take-up of the Portal and availability of 
PPE within the sector continue to be monitored.  
 
6.2 The SRF holds emergency contingency stock for the whole of Sussex. Access to this 
stock and associated governance has been agreed with all partners. Additionally, the 
County Council has a limited amount of emergency SRF stock that is being held in case of 
issues with the Portal service.  
 
6.3 The County Council also now holds considerable PPE stock available to council 
services. Over 1 million items of our own stock have been issued to date. Joint procurement 
has been undertaken with partners and, where appropriate, County Council PPE can be 
procured by statutory partners. The availability of PPE has improved considerably since 
March and confidence exists that County Council procurement can meet future demand 
based on existing modelling.  
 
7. Shielded Cohort 
 
7.1 Supplementary to the Contain Framework, a Covid-19 Shielding Framework has 
been published to inform local authority planning to support Clinically Extremely Vulnerable 
(CEV) individuals in the event that shielding guidance is reintroduced on a local or national 
basis. Any decision to reintroduce shielding will be taken at a national level, and the 
framework sets out that in the event this happens councils will now be responsible for 
assessing the food and basic support needs of CEV individuals and facilitating delivery of 

Page 15



 

 

that support. Funding to support councils in assessing and meeting these needs is 
anticipated but details are to be confirmed.  
 
7.2 Planning is underway for a potential shielding operation based on the guidance 
issued and discussion with Government. Food box provision will now be the responsibility of 
local authorities and be intended to be a last resort, with far more emphasis placed upon 
supermarket and local retailer delivery options and a local volunteer and community 
response than in the first lockdown.  
 
7.3 Additional temporary capacity is being recruited to Health and Social Care Connect 
(HSCC), along with commissioning external contact centre capacity should the need arise. 
A contract for food box provision has already been procured. During the lockdown from 
March to August a significant number of County Council staff were redeployed to the call 
centre and food box delivery. It is anticipated that any future lockdown will not result in the 
cessation of such a wide range of Council services as previously and, as such, a different 
delivery model will be required, based far more on commissioning external expertise and 
capacity, rather than utilising redeployed staff.  
 
7.4 The County Council has signed up for the necessary data flows from the NHS, and a 
data management process has been developed and has been tested. Data will be provided 
to the County Council, along with each of the Districts and Boroughs, which was not the 
case previously. 
 
7.5 The Community Hubs in each District and Borough are still live and most have been 
absorbed into existing contact centre arrangements. Current call volumes are low, at around 
20 per week across East Sussex. Contingency plans for re-escalating the Community Hubs 
in the event of increased lockdown measures are in development.   
 
7.6 Working groups exist with voluntary and community sector and health partners and 
District and Borough Councils looking at the county’s preparedness with regard to shielding 
and the Community Hubs. Engagement remains strong and collaboration good. Concern as 
to a wider range of vulnerabilities experienced by residents relating to the wider impact of 
Covid-19 are relevant to the capacity of the Community Hubs. 
 
8. Trading Standards 
  
8.1 Both District and Borough Councils (via Environmental Health) and ESCC (via 
Trading Standards) have been designated by the Secretary of State to enforce emergency 
regulations regarding business premises closures and other restrictions within their areas. 
Trading Standards and Environmental Health across East and West Sussex have put in 
place protocols based upon premises type to avoid any unnecessary duplication of effort, 
together with having close liaison with Sussex Police who have an enforcement role with 
individuals. A single point of contact within each service has been established to ensure that 
wherever complaints are received they are quickly routed to the correct service without 
needing to re-signpost the person making the complaint. Most recently, this has seen 
complaints and enquiries relating to social distancing, taking and retaining contact 
information (for the NHS Test and Trace system), hospitality closure, large event 
management and wearing of face coverings. Legislation has also been introduced giving the 
County Council powers to issue Directions to stop events, close public areas and close 
specific premises if there is deemed a serious public health risk. This is a decision for the 
Director of Public Health (DPH) based on information and intelligence received. Trading 
Standards is assisting with this process.  
  
8.2 Since March 2020, Trading Standards has received over 550 enquiries relating to 
Covid-19 and has dealt with each in line with the protocols outlined above. Most recently, 

Page 16



 

 

the service has attended a large scale event to monitor and assist with Covid-19 controls 
and undertaken over 110 visits to close contact businesses such as hairdressers and 
barbers to check compliance with the latest Covid-19 requirements on contact tracing. 
 

8.3      Trading Standards has continued its existing investigations and animal health 
intervention work throughout lockdown, using remote contacts and interviewing as far as is 
possible. Despite some difficulties with the court system, there have been two successful 
prosecutions in relation to both an animal welfare matter and an illegal tobacco seizure. 
More recently, the service has restarted their food sampling and inspection work and has 
been actively engaged with Government, Port Health Authority and Newhaven Port 
concerning preparations for the end of the EU Exit transition period in December 2020. The 
service has inevitably needed to reprioritise work to ensure sufficient capacity for both 
business as usual and Covid-19 related work but has used the well tested weekly tasking 
process to allocate resources accordingly. 
 

9. Libraries 
 
9.1  Five libraries reopened in July and feedback from customers has been positive. The 
remaining 12 libraries reopened from 19 October. We have continued to offer browsing of 
stock and computer sessions and have restored the Reservation Service for customers to 
reserve specific items from any library, alongside our new Select and Collect Service. We 
have resumed one to one computer support by volunteers and continue to support people to 
access digital services online and by phone. Use of online services remains very high; 
borrowing of eBooks has doubled since April. Family Learning and other adult learning 
courses are being delivered successfully online. We have launched new digital services 
including support for people participating in online job interviews.  
  
10. Household Waste Recycling Sites 
 
10.1 All of the Council’s waste disposal facilities for the disposal of black bag waste, dry 
recycling and garden waste have continued throughout the lockdown and the summer 
period.  
 
10.2 All of our Household Waste Recycling Sites are open and operating, albeit a few 
restrictions remain in place. The number of unloading bays at each site is still restricted to 
ensure safe distancing and trailers are still not permitted because of the time taken to 
manoeuvre and unload the larger volumes of waste. Vans and oversized vehicles are 
permitted entry on two days a week, and chargeable waste is now accepted. The sites are 
operating well and safely, and residents are appreciative of the staff operating the sites. The 
queues that were experienced when the sites reopened during lockdown have reduced and 
only occur at one or two sites during peak times. All of our sites switched to their winter 
opening times from 1 October.  
 
11. Highways and Transport 
 
11.1 Work has continued on highway maintenance and the Highways Service has 
continued to provide a near normal service, whilst maintaining safe distancing and ensuring 
the safety of the workforce and public. The roads patching programme has progressed as 
normal and two patching units have continued to work in the county throughout the summer, 
taking advantage of the quieter roads during lockdown. The surface dressing and 
resurfacing programmes have progressed to plan.   
 
11.2 Maintenance of the county’s public rights of way, bridges and structures has 
continued throughout lockdown and the summer period to plan. 
 

Page 17



 

 

12.      Parking Charges 
 
12.1 The new on-street pay and display parking tariffs and permit charges came into force 
on 1 July, and at the same time enforcement on-street resumed following the lockdown. 
  
12.2 The County Council received Department for Transport and parliamentary approval 
of its Civil Parking Enforcement powers and civil parking enforcement commenced across 
Rother district on 29 September.  
 
13. Active travel programme  
 
13.1 Following the Secretary of State for Transport's announcement on 9 May that funding 
would be allocated to local authorities to implement temporary transport measures, a 
programme of potential schemes that could be implemented in the county was developed to 
encourage more walking and cycling, support safe social distancing and help restart the 
local economy as the Covid-19 restrictions are eased. In doing so, we engaged with our 
Borough and District Council colleagues as well as walking and cycling groups across the 
county for their thoughts and suggestions. The extent of the programme was always 
predicated on the amount of funding that indicatively would be made available to the County 
Council and assessing the impacts that any such measures would have on enabling safe 
social distancing and access to shops and businesses in our high streets, jobs, medical 
facilities and schools.  
 
13.2 The Government instructed that the Emergency Active Travel Fund measures must 
be in place quickly, with the expectation that we would only consult with statutory 
stakeholders, such as emergency services. Despite this, and particularly in light of the 
potential economic impacts of some of the proposals on our high streets in particular, we felt 
it was important to get the views of those living and working in the area rather than impose a 
scheme upon them. Therefore, we undertook a variety of local consultations with local 
businesses and residents as well as stakeholders during the summer. Ultimately, this 
resulted in the decision to proceed with schemes in Bexhill and Hastings.  
 
13.3 We have also submitted a bid to Government for Tranche 2 of the Active Travel 
Programme which, if successful, will focus more on improving existing footways and 
cycleways in the county. We are awaiting announcement of the outcome of the bid. It is still 
expected that any measures will need to be implemented by the end of March 2021.  
 
14. Business Services 
 
14.1 Orbis continues to support staff to effectively deliver all services that we can remotely 
to reduce the risk of coronavirus spread. Across the Council we have seen improvements in 
productivity due to modernised processes and increased flexibility of working. Staff 
management and new service delivery practices are enabling staff to work in this 
increasingly flexible way. Opportunities to embed and expand digital technologies and 
processes that have enhanced service delivery and working processes in lockdown are 
being explored. There is some indication that the shift to increased remote working and 
economic uncertainty has increased applications to County Council job vacancies, including 
previously hard-to-recruit roles.  
 
14.2 In response to recent Government guidance around staff continuing to work from 
home where possible we are enhancing our wellbeing support for staff and guidance for 
managers and developing more targeted virtual training and interactive support sessions for 
our staff and managers to operate in the extended working from home environment. 
 

Page 18



 

 

14.3 Through the SPACES partnership we are sharing approaches across the public 
sector partners on the management of workplaces and seeking opportunities for 
collaborative working. 
 
14.4 In response to the increased level of remote and digital working we have increased 
our focus and monitoring on cyber security and maintain strong and active engagement with 
the National Cyber Security Centre and our local warning advice and reporting group. 
 
15. Member Meetings  
 
15.1 Member meetings have continued to be held remotely via Microsoft Teams with 
arrangements continuing to be informed by feedback from the Member Reference Group. 
Training and guidance were provided to Members to support the transition from Skype to 
Teams in June, with additional communications to assist Members in making the most of 
the latest Teams features. A training session was provided in September specifically 
focused on chairing virtual meetings and additional guidance is provided to individual Chairs 
tailored to specific meeting arrangements. The public continues to be able to view meetings 
via our existing webcasting site. 
 
15.2 Scrutiny Committees undertook a review and reset of their work programmes in 
June/July and restarted formal meetings in September. Scrutiny Review and Reference 
Group work has continued where this can be supported by departments and/or be 
progressed by scrutiny independently. A full programme of scrutiny and other meetings will 
continue under the virtual arrangements whilst advice remains to avoid physical gatherings. 
 
16. Communicating with partners and residents  
 
16.1 We have built dedicated pages on our website and kept them updated to help 
businesses, residents and partners get the latest information on the position in East Sussex. 
These pages have been viewed more than 187,000 times. We have made extensive use of 
social media, video and traditional media to keep people informed. This has included joint 
public videos with hospital doctors, nurses and GPs, and advertising targeted to parts of the 
county with rising infection rates. We have introduced email bulletins for residents, 
members, MPs, partners and staff.  We have conducted two surveys with residents (to get 
the views of more than 11,000 people) and are planning another. We work closely with 
District and Borough Councils to get information to residents, especially about community 
hubs.  Special efforts have been made to reach people from potentially marginalised 
groups, including people of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic background and those with 
severe existing health conditions. 
 
17. Financial Implications of Covid-19  
 
17.1 The quarter 1 monitoring report presented to Cabinet in October reflected the impact 
of Covid-19 pressures on services and the Council overall. Given current circumstances, 
finance reporting has been split into Planned Budgets/Business as Usual (non-Covid) and 
Covid related items. The non-Covid related total forecast an overspend of £1.1m on 
service budgets, details of which can be found in the quarter 1 monitoring report. The details 
of Covid related pressures in each department are also set out and estimate a total 
forecast overspend of £36.5m revenue and £1.8m capital. This was against known Covid 
funding of £29.7m received in Tranches 1 to 3 and set out in the table below. 
 

Tranche 1 £16.3m 

Tranche 2 £9.8m 

Page 19



 

 

 
 
 
 
17.2  The Council has submitted a bid to MHCLG for support for losses on sales, fees and 
charges. The bid covers the first four months of 2020/21 and totals £1.6m. The bid is 
subject to review, but when approved this could be extrapolated for the rest of the financial 
year to £4m.  
 
17.3 Beyond broader Covid-19 grant funding, we have received more specific support, 
and this has been fully allocated to service departments in line with the terms and conditions 
of the grant funding. These include: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
17.4 On 12 October the Government announced a further £1bn (Tranche 4) allocation to 
local government. Although welcomed, the Council’s Tranche 4 allocation, at £3.1m, was 
lower than anticipated as a consequence of the rebasing of the total COVID-19 funding 
(Tranches 1-4) to reflect the COVID relative needs formula, which in effect removed the 
specific focuses of prior tranche allocations. We will now have to work to contain spend 
within a smaller envelope of funding, which will be a challenge. The total allocation of 
COVID-19 funding is now £32.8m.  
 
17.5 On 16 October the Government announced that Local Authorities will be eligible for a 
series of payments from the Contain Outbreak Management Fund to support proactive 
containment and intervention measures. Authorities will receive £8 per head if they are in 
tier 3, £3 if they are in tier 2, and £1 for tier 1. As East Sussex is at Tier 1 the Council will 
receive £1 per head.  
 
17.6 Services continue to work to further understand Covid-19 pressures in their areas. 
Work is also ongoing with our Districts and Boroughs to understand the impact of the loss of 
income they are experiencing with regard to Council Tax and Business Rates. As a 
precepting authority, ESCC will not bear the burden of this loss until it materialises through 
the Collection Fund. LG Futures has been commissioned by East Sussex authorities to 
provide a co-ordinated understanding of the impacts of Covid-19 and the economic 
downturn and refine current estimates. 
 
17.7 The updated Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2021/22 to 2023/24 presented 
to Cabinet in October is summarised in the table below. It assumes, for financial planning 
purposes, business as usual service provision from 1 April 2021; any ongoing Covid-19 cost 
pressures or income losses will be managed through the normal quarterly monitoring 
process. A number of funding scenarios were also presented. To what extent they will help 
reduce this gap will be unknown before the Local Government Provisional Settlement and/or 
the Spending Review; on 21 October the Spending Review was confirmed as one year with 
an announcement planned for the 25 November.   

Tranche 3 £3.6m 

Total £29.7m 

Infection Control Grant Tranche 1 £10.7m 

Infection Control Grant Tranche 2 £8.3m 

Test & Trace Grant £2.5m 

Additional Dedicated Home to School and College 
Transport Funding  

£0.8m 

Emergency Assistance Grant for Food and 
Essential Supplies 

£0.6m 

Emergency Active Travel Fund Tranche 1 £0.5m 

Page 20



 

 

 

Medium Term Financial Plan 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total 

  £m £m £m £m 

Council 11 February 2020 
DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) 

1.443 7.879 0.000 9.322 

Normal Updates (2.106) (1.441) 8.872 5.325 

Proposed Updates 9.895 (0.206) (0.477) 9.213 

Savings Reprofile 2.316 (1.074) (1.242) 0.000 

Deficit / (Surplus) AFTER 
UPDATES TO THE MTFP 

11.548 5.158 7.154 23.860 

 
17.8 As set out above, the projected deficit for 2021/22 is £11.5m with an aggregate deficit 
of £23.9m.  
  
18. Economy 
 
18.1 In April 2020 ESCC agreed to co-ordinate the development of an Economy Recovery 
Plan with partners to provide a clear focus for the economy recovery effort once the 
Government support schemes came to an end. The proposal was presented to Team East 
Sussex (TES), the county’s de-facto growth board, who were unanimous in their support for 
the plan. It is important to note that this is not a plan for the County Council, it is a plan for 
TES and partners to take forward. The plan intends to be complementary and supportive of 
other activities being progressed at a local level, including climate change and health and 
wellbeing initiatives.  
 
18.2 East Sussex Reset is an evolutionary document and is relatively short term. It has 
identified and will deliver interventions over the next 12-18 months that draw upon the 
various partners’ own recovery plans and pull everything into one place so that partners, 
businesses, residents and visitors can see the collective contributions being made towards 
resetting the economy of East Sussex.  
 
18.3 The development of the plan has involved consultation with key partners across the 
county, and it was endorsed by TES on 30 July, with the official launch of the plan on 9 
September. The plan will be presented to Cabinet at its 8 December meeting.   
 
19. Recovery and next steps 
 
19.1 The ongoing impact of Covid-19 and recovery from it will not be linear or even across 
our services and communities. We are currently seeing a national increase in infections and 
are likely to see waves of infection in the future. The announcement of another national 
lockdown could have a significant impact on our residents, businesses and partners and we 
may need to make further adjustments to the way we work to comply with restrictions and 
deliver new support. We will need to continue responding flexibly, escalating and de-
escalating our provision as needed in response to increased or decreased levels of 
emergency measures to control the virus. 
 
19.2 The emergency has necessitated new ways of working and has given rise to new 
partnerships and possibilities. These may offer opportunities to create a positive legacy for 
the future as we continue to develop our recovery plans alongside the response.  
 
19.3 We need to use our existing political and business planning processes to further 
develop our plans. Cabinet has already reviewed the Council’s priority and delivery 
outcomes and Core Offer in light of the new context and agreed changes to form the basis 

Page 21



 

 

of planning for 2021/22 and beyond. Our financial planning has been updated to reflect what 
we know and can estimate about the impact of Covid, although there remains much 
uncertainty. 
 
19.4  This work will lead to a revised Council Plan and targets and MTFP for 2021/22 and 
beyond. Our integrated monitoring and risk processes provide a vehicle to allow us to 
continue to take a flexible approach to planning and delivery as we move through the 
pandemic and take account of broader changes in the context in which we are working: the 
impact of the pandemic on the national economy and our funding prospects; the changed 
needs of our residents and businesses and the impact of exiting the EU in 2021 on both the 
economy and our services.   
 
 
BECKY SHAW 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

 

Report to: 
 

Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 
 

10 November 2020 

By: 
 

Assistant Chief Executive 

Title: 
 

Scrutiny Review of Road Markings 
 

Purpose: 
 

To provide an opportunity for the Cabinet to consider the report of the 
Place Scrutiny Committee. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  To consider any comments the Cabinet wishes to make to the County 
Council on the report of the Place Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 
1. Background  
 

1.1 The poor condition of some road markings on the County’s roads has come to the attention 
of the Place Scrutiny Committee. Of particular concern is the condition of road markings that are 
important for road safety such as pedestrian crossings, and the implications this may have for road 
safety. The Place Scrutiny Committee established a Scrutiny Review at its meeting on 18 September 
2019 to examine this issue. The scope of the review included: 
 

 The types of road markings and how frequently they are renewed;  

 the specifications for road markings and how they are applied;  

 whether utility company reinstatement works are replacing road markings adequately; 

 the road markings the Parking Team is responsible for (e.g. double yellow lines, parking 
bays etc.); and 

 the role of the Road Safety Team regarding road markings.  
 
1.2 The lines of enquiry which have been explored in this review are: 
 

 Could the current system of prioritisation for routine maintenance work to refresh/renew 
road markings be improved? 

 Why do some road markings appear to wear out more rapidly than expected?  

 How frequently are parking enforcement road markings renewed and are there additional 
road markings that could be paid for from the parking budget?   

 What do other local authorities spend on road markings and is the ESCC level of 
expenditure adequate? 

 
1.4 The Review has examined evidence from key officers involved in the maintenance and 
provision of road markings. The challenge for the Review has been to develop recommendations 
that will bring about improvements, whilst taking into account the Council’s current financial position.  
 
1.5  The Review Board originally planned to submit its report to the Place Scrutiny Committee in 
March this year. However, this was delayed by the impact of the Coronavirus and the cancellation 
of meetings. 
 
2. Summary 
 
2.1 The Place Scrutiny Committee has completed its Scrutiny Review of Road Markings. The 
Review makes six recommendations which address the maintenance and renewal of road markings 
on the County’s roads. A copy of the report is attached at appendix 1.  
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6a



 

 

2.2 The Review heard evidence that road markings are one of the most cost effective ways of 
promoting road safety and are also important for the efficient flow of traffic on the County’s roads. 
Overall, the Review finds that the Council’s arrangements for the maintenance of road markings are 
able to deal with safety defects and the renewal of some road markings. However, under the current 
arrangements it has not been possible to keep up with the rate at which road markings are wearing 
out. The Board has made a number of recommendations which it believes will help improve the 
maintenance of road markings.  
 
2.3 The Place Scrutiny Committee welcomed the allocation of an additional £1million of one-off 
funding for Highways infrastructure programmes in the 2021/22 budget. Around £160,000 of this 
funding has been used to provide an additional road marking gang. This has had a material impact 
and the Committee noted that it has made a noticeable improvement in the condition of road 
markings around the County. 
 
2.3 The Committee’s report will be submitted to the County Council on 1 December 2020. The 
Cabinet has the opportunity to comment to the County Council on the recommendations in the 
Scrutiny Committee’s report, although it cannot alter the report. 
 
3. Recommendations and conclusion 

 
3.1 Cabinet is invited to consider any comments it wishes to make to the County Council on the 
report of the Place Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
PHILIP BAKER 
Assistant Chief Executive 
 
Contact Officer:  Martin Jenks 
Tel No. 01273 481327 
Email: martin.jenks@eastsussex.gov.uk  
 
LOCAL MEMBERS: All. 
 
 

Page 24

mailto:martin.jenks@eastsussex.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Review of Road 
Markings 

 

Report by the Review Board: 
 

Councillor Godfrey Daniel (Chair) 

Councillor Stephen Shing 

Councillor Barry Taylor 

 

 

 

 

March 2020 
 

Place Scrutiny Committee – 23 September 2020 

Cabinet – 10 November 2020 

Full Council – 1 December 2020

Page 25



 

2 

The report of the Scrutiny Review of Road Markings 

 

Contents 

Recommendations .................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Background ............................................................................................................................... 6 

Review Board Findings ............................................................................................................ 8 

Highway Road Markings ....................................................................................................... 8 

Maintenance of Road Markings ........................................................................................... 8 

Road Safety ......................................................................................................................... 9 

Parking Enforcement Road Markings ................................................................................ 10 

Finance and Funding .......................................................................................................... 10 

Conclusions ............................................................................................................................ 12 

Appendix: ................................................................................................................................ 13 

Scope and terms of reference of the review ....................................................................... 13 

Board Membership and project support ............................................................................. 13 

Review Board meeting dates ............................................................................................. 13 

Witnesses providing evidence ............................................................................................ 13 

Evidence papers ................................................................................................................ 14 

 

Page 26



 

3 

Recommendations 

Recommendation Page 

1 The Review Board recommends that Officers continue to keep a watching brief on 
the development of new road marking materials and techniques and carry out trials 
to evaluate their effectiveness in reducing costs and increasing the durability of 
road markings.  

8 

2 The Review Board recommends that the requirement to inspect road markings as 
part of routine inspections and the categories of road markings important for road 
safety are included in regular reminders to Highway Stewards and customer 
service staff.  

8 

3 The Review Board recommends that the responsibilities of the utility companies 
and Highways England regarding road markings are made clear in the information 
provided on the East Sussex Highways web site.   

8 

4 The Review Board recommends that when considering the allocation of resources 
for highway maintenance and road transport schemes, increased priority is given 
to funding for road markings to reflect their contribution to road safety. 

9 

5 The Review Board recommends that the parking budget is recharged for all 
parking enforcement road marking renewal work with immediate effect, and the 
money used for additional highway road marking maintenance work. 

10 

6 The Review Board recommends that: 

a) should any new Government funding become available for highway 
maintenance, consideration is given to using a portion of it to improve the 
condition of road markings in the County (if allowed by the conditions attached to 
the funding). 

b) priority is given to renewing road markings that are important for road safety, 
such as those listed in paragraph 19 of the report, when determining the use of the 
additional one-off funding in 2020/21. 

c) consideration is given to including the funding to improve and maintain road 
marking in the base budget for the core services in the Highways Infrastructure 
Maintenance contract from 2023 onwards when it is re-procured. 

11 

 

Page 27



 

4 

Introduction 

1. The Place Scrutiny Committee has observed that road markings, and in particular those 
that relate to pedestrian crossings and road safety, are in some instances becoming worn out 
and less visible. This appears to be a consistent issue across the County and there are 
concerns that this will have an impact on road safety and the ability of the Council to enforce 
parking restrictions. 

2. The Place Scrutiny Committee carried out some initial exploratory work on this issue and 
agreed to establish a Review Board at its meeting on 18 September 2019 to carry out a scrutiny 
review of road markings in the County. The Review Board identified the following lines of 
enquiry: 

 Could the current system for routine maintenance work to refresh/renew road markings 
be improved? 

 Why do some road markings appear to wear out more rapidly than expected?  

 How frequently are parking enforcement road markings renewed and are there 
additional road markings that could be paid for from the parking budget?   

 What do other local authorities spend on road markings and is the ESCC level of 
expenditure adequate? 

3. The desired outcomes from the scrutiny review are to improve the maintenance of road 
markings, clarify the prioritisation process for renewals and reduce the number of service 
requests. 

 

 

Bethune Way, Hastings - before remarking. 

  

Page 28



 

5 

 

 

 

Bethune Way, Hastings – after remarking. 

 

  

Page 29



 

6 

 

Background 

4. The County has over 1,550 miles of road markings, or lining, across the road network. 
Road markings are covered by specific Highway legislation and are treated as road signs for the 
purposes of legislation and guidance. The legislation and accompanying guidance detail the 
prescribed colour, size, location and use of all road signs so there is consistency across the 
country.  

5. There is a requirement to provide signs and road markings for prohibitions such as “No 
Right Turn” and “No Entry”, but there is no statutory requirement to provide other road markings, 
only guidance. However, the Council is expected to secure the “expeditious and safe movement 
of vehicles on the public highway” (Highways Act 1980). 

6. Road markings provide a continual message to drivers about the use of the road and 
provide additional guidance (conspicuity) in poor driving conditions (e.g. in fog, heavy rain and 
at night time). Road markings help ensure the correct and safe use of the highway as they: 

 separate opposing traffic;  

 assist with road layout and traffic flow;   

 ensure the best use of the road space available (e.g. by providing lane lines); and 

 control where vehicles can park on the highway.  

7.  There are three teams within the Council who are involved in the specification, provision 
and maintenance of road markings. They are: 

 Road Safety - The Road Safety Team are consulted on all new road schemes and they 
have input into all lining and road marking requirements. They specify road markings, 
including cats’ eyes and road studs, and investigate all sites where there have been 
major collisions. The crash site investigation work can involve making recommendations 
for improvements including to the road markings. 

 Highway Infrastructure Maintenance – This team is responsible for the maintenance and 
re-marking of all road markings and lines (excluding roads maintained by Highways 
England). This includes maintaining parking bays, disabled parking bays and yellow 
lines on behalf of the Parking Team. 

 Parking – The Parking Team undertakes work to mark out all new parking bays and 
yellow lines in parts of the County where Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) is in operation 
(Eastbourne, Hastings and Lewes - at the time of writing). In the current non-CPE areas 
(Rother and Wealden) the Road Safety Team deal with requests for advisory disabled 
parking bays and access protection markings. 

8. To give an illustration of the range and quantity of road markings that require 
maintenance, an extract is given below from Council’s inventory system: 

1,332 miles of Longitudinal lines (shown in green on the aerial photograph below) 

This category includes all white and yellow lines whether they are centre lines, edge of 
carriageway lines, broken/dashed lines (measured as the whole length of the marking, not each 
individual dash) or solid double lines (which are counted as a single measurement). 

47 miles of Hatched lines (shown in yellow) 

The length refers to length of hatched area and the not the individual lines. 

Page 30



 

7 

31,600 Special markings (show as purple dots) 

Typically, these are ‘Give Way’ triangles, ‘Give Way’ dashed lines at junctions, directional 
arrows, text such as ‘Slow’ or ‘No Right Turn’, pedestrian crossings, parking bays and speed 
limit roundels. 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

9. The Highways Team uses two techniques to apply road markings, hand laying and 
machine laying thermoplastic markings. It does not use pre-formed road markings, but they are 
sometimes used by utility companies for reinstatement work. Most of the work is done by hand 
laying, which is used for safety defects and renewal work in built up areas where there are lower 
road speeds. Machine laying is used for programmed work on higher speed ‘A’ and ‘B’ roads for 
centre line and edge markings, where it is more efficient and safer to use this technique and it 
reduces the amount of time the road must be closed whilst the work is completed. 

Page 31



 

8 

Review Board Findings 

Highway Road Markings 

Maintenance of Road Markings 

10. The rate at which road markings wear out principally depends on the amount of the 
traffic the road receives. The durability of road markings may also be affected by the condition 
of the road surface when they are laid and whether wire brush type mechanical road sweeping 
is used (e.g. for weed control) which may damage markings. For principal ‘A’ roads that are 
heavily trafficked the road markings may need to be renewed every 1-2 years. For less heavily 
used roads, the road markings will need to be renewed every 5-7 years. 

11. The Review Board examined the measures in place to ensure the methods and 
materials used for road markings meet the required specification and standards. The evidence 
seen by the Board provided assurance that work is being carried out correctly and is not 
contributing to rate of deterioration of road markings. There are some new materials and 
techniques being developed which may have the potential to improve the cost effectiveness or 
increase the life of road markings. The Board heard that there are cold plastic road marking 
materials, and ‘peaked’ extrusion techniques for centre lines and edge of carriageway markings 
which are currently being evaluated.  

Recommendation 1 

The Review Board recommends that Officers continue to keep a watching brief on the 
development of new road marking materials and techniques and carry out trials to 
evaluate their effectiveness in reducing costs and increasing the durability of road 
markings. 

12. Highway Stewards report safety defects and advisories for road markings when carrying 
out regular inspections, in the same way that they do for potholes.  If a road marking important 
for road safety is more than 50% faded, then it is reported as a safety defect. It was unclear 
whether the condition of road markings is being reported on in every inspection, and whether 
the categories of road markings important for road safety are widely understood. Consequently, 
Stewards have been reminded of the need to assess road markings alongside other priorities 
such as carriageway and pavement safety defects. Highway Stewards will also be asked to 
report any issues with road markings re-instated by utility companies as part of their routine 
inspections. 

Recommendation 2 

The Review Board recommends that the requirement to inspect road markings as part of 
routine inspections and the categories of road markings important for road safety are 
included in regular reminders to Highway Stewards and customer service staff. 

13. Utility companies have a responsibility to replace road markings when carrying out re-
instatement work. This can lead to the partial renewal of markings and the use of less durable 
materials. Although this is less than ideal, the Council does not have the powers to require more 
extensive works or the use of specific types of materials. Highways England are also 
responsible for the maintenance of some roads in the County and requests for road markings on 
these roads have to be referred to them for attention. 

Recommendation 3 

The Board recommends that the responsibilities of the utility companies and Highways 
England regarding road markings are made clear in the information provided on the East 
Sussex Highways web site.  

Page 32



 

9 

14. The Review Board heard that a five-year rolling programme for renewing road markings 
was started at the beginning of the current Highways Maintenance contract in 2016. This was 
based on an estimate of the time that it would take to renew all the road markings in the County 
and was prioritised to tackle the worst areas first. However, there was insufficient information on 
the condition of road markings at that point in time to determine accurately the level of 
resources needed. Work is underway to better understand the condition of road markings using 
an analysis of the high definition video surveys of road condition. 

15. The current Highways Maintenance contract uses a lump sum of £165,000 per year to 
pay for one road marking gang who are employed year-round to renew road markings. The 
work of the gang is prioritised, so it undertakes safety defect works first and then programmed 
work, which includes refreshing parking enforcement road markings and advisory markings 
such as disabled parking bays. 

16. The inclusion of a sum of money in the core services part of the current Highways 
Infrastructure Maintenance contract for road markings is an improvement on the previous 
position. However, evidence provided to the Review Board indicates that in the light of 
experience, the current resources only provide the ability to deal with any safety defects and 
undertake some renewal work and is not enough to keep up with the rate of road marking 
renewals needed. The Review Board considers that with a better understanding of the condition 
of road markings and the level of resources needed, the funding allocated to road markings 
within the core services of the Highways Infrastructure Maintenance contract should be 
reviewed when contract is re-procured. The Place Scrutiny Committee will be involved in the re-
procurement project for the Highways Infrastructure Maintenance contract and will be able to 
raise this point through the re-procurement project work. 

Road Safety 

17. The Review Board heard that the level of maintenance of lining and road markings has 
been reduced over the years and road markings are not always performing their function as 
they should. This has been due to the financial pressures experienced by local authorities and 
where decisions have had to be made on the relative priorities for expenditure within the 
highways budget. Over the last five to ten years maintenance issues, such as bringing lining up 
to standard, have been raised more frequently when the Road Safety Team undertakes crash 
site investigation work. 

18. The Board also heard that road markings are a relatively cost-effective measure for 
improving road safety (e.g. when compared with highway engineering schemes), and for 
informing and guiding drivers. In the Road Safety Manager’s opinion, better condition road 
markings would have an impact on the number of crash sites. 

19. As road markings are one of the most cost-effective measure in terms of promoting road 
safety, the Board considers it is important for the Council to find ways of improving the 
maintenance and condition of road markings, particularly those considered to be important for 
road safety (e.g. stop lines and give way signs; pedestrian crossings; edge of carriageway lines 
and centre line markings; and regulatory or prohibition markings). 

Recommendation 4 

The Review Board recommends that when considering the allocation of resources for 
highway maintenance and road transport schemes, increased priority is given to funding 
for road markings to reflect their contribution to road safety. 

 

Page 33



 

10 

Parking Enforcement Road Markings 

20. The Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) inspect and assess the condition of the road 
markings needed for parking enforcement whilst on their daily patrols and then report any that 
need renewing to the Highways Team. This is done using two categories, one for lines that are 
not enforceable which will be done as a priority, and the other where lines are fading and need 
renewing.  

21. The work to renew the existing road markings used for parking enforcement is paid for 
and undertaken by the Highways Team and the highway revenue budget. The Parking Team 
make around six requests per month to renew parking enforcement road markings which 
equates to around 15% of the road marking gang’s time. In addition, the highway budget is 
charged for the cost of suspending parking whilst the work is undertaken. In total around 
£24,000 a year is spent on renewing parking enforcement road markings in the three CPE 
areas. 

22. The Review Board considers that it is logical and not unreasonable to recharge the 
parking enforcement road marking renewal work to the parking budget. The cost of renewing 
road markings necessary for parking enforcement is a legitimate operating cost of the CPE 
schemes and recharging the parking budget will release money for other road marking work. 
The Board is aware that this may reduce the funding available for other transport schemes from 
the parking budget but considers the benefits of well-maintained road markings to road safety 
outweigh this loss.  

Recommendation 5 

The Board recommends that the parking budget is recharged for all parking enforcement 
road marking renewal work with immediate effect, and the money used for additional 
highway road marking maintenance work. 

 

Finance and Funding 

23. The current revenue budget spending on road markings is £165,000 per year from the 
Highways Infrastructure Maintenance contract core service. This is supplemented by a machine 
laid programme of work which is paid for on top of the core service. Since the beginning of the 
current Highways Maintenance contract the following sums have been spent in addition to the 
core service.  

 £492,363 in 2016/17 (Year 1 of the contact) due to use of an additional lining gang and 
extensive machine laid refresh programme of A roads.  

 £62,097 in 2017/18 (Year 2) due to additional marking of A259 (Pevensey junction to 
Saltdean) and other parts of A roads not completed in Year 1. 

 £66,000* in 2019/20 (Year 4) *approximate value of a machine laid programme 
instructed but not yet delivered. 

24. An indication of the one-off costs to replace proportions of all the road markings in the 
County are shown below (this includes basic traffic management only). 

100% of road markings £2,225,806 

90% of road markings  £2,003,225 

80% of road markings  £1,780,645 

70% of road markings  £1,558,064 

60% of road markings  £1,335,483 

Page 34



 

11 

25. The Board heard that in an ideal situation it would require an initial injection of one-off 
funding to bring all road markings up a maintainable standard, and then two road marking gangs 
plus a machine laid programme of work to keep them in good condition. The Review Board 
recognises that in the current financial climate it may not be possible to secure this level of 
resource, but considers funding for an additional gang is justified by the contribution to road 
safety and the efficient movement of traffic that well-maintained road markings provide. 

26. The Board has reviewed the level of expenditure by other local authorities on road 
markings and notes that it is difficult to make direct comparisons due to differences in the 
character and composition of the road networks in other authority areas. Although expenditure 
on road markings per mile of carriageway appears to be at similar levels to East Sussex County 
Council, it is likely that road marking funding in other local authorities has been reduced due the 
same budget pressures. 

27. There are no sources of additional funding for road markings that the Council can bid for, 
and the Council cannot use the current one-off Department for Transport (DfT) pothole fund 
monies as this is ringfenced for pothole repairs. 

28. An additional £1 million of one-of funding has been allocated for investment in highways 
infrastructure in 2020/21 via the Council’s budget setting process. The Review Board 
understands that in response to the initial findings of this Review, an allocation has been made 
to fund an additional road marking gang for a year from this sum of money. The Board 
welcomes this additional funding and the recognition of the role road markings play in road 
safety and the efficient movement of traffic on the County’s roads. This will also provide an 
opportunity to evaluate the impact of the addition of a second road marking gang on road 
marking condition.  

29. It is likely that further funding for road markings will be needed in future years and the 
cost of an additional road marking gang is relatively modest at £165,000 per year, when 
compared with the cost of road safety engineering schemes. Based on the evidence examined 
by the Review Board it would appear reasonable to increase the resources allocated to the road 
marking if possible, given the benefits to road safety and improved traffic flow.  

 

Recommendation 6 

The Review Board recommends that: 

a) should any new Government funding become available for highway maintenance, 
consideration is given to using a portion of it to improve the condition of road markings 
in the County (if allowed by the conditions attached to the funding). 

b) priority is given to renewing road markings that are important for road safety, such as 
those listed in paragraph 19 of the report, when determining the use of the additional 
one-off funding in 2020/21. 

c) consideration is given to including the funding to improve and maintain road marking 
in the base budget for the core services in the Highways Infrastructure Maintenance 
contract from 2023 onwards when it is re-procured. 

 

Page 35



 

12 

Conclusions 

30. Road markings are a very visible, relatively cheap and cost-effective way of supporting 
road safety and promoting traffic movement. The Review Board has examined the way in which 
road marking work is carried out and found that effective quality assurance systems are in 
place. However, based on the evidence the Review Board has seen, the current resources 
allocated to road marking maintenance are not enough to keep up with the rate at which road 
markings are wearing out and to keep them in good condition. 

31. The Review Board has made a number of recommendations which it believes will 
improve the condition of road markings in the County, which are important for both road safety 
and getting the most out of the County’s road network. 

Page 36



 

13 

Appendix:  

Scope and terms of reference of the review 

The Review was established to consider and make recommendations on the following: 

a) Could the current system of prioritisation for routine maintenance work to 
refresh/renew road markings be improved? 

b) Why do some road markings appear to wear out more rapidly than expected?  

c) How frequently are parking enforcement road markings renewed and are there 
additional road markings that could be paid for from the parking budget?   

d) What do other local authorities spend on road markings and is the ESCC level of 
expenditure adequate? 

The desired outcomes from the review are to improve the maintenance of road markings, clarify 
the prioritisation process for renewals and reduce the number of service requests. 

Board Membership and project support 

Review Board Members: Councillors Godfrey Daniel (Chair), Stephen Shing, and Barry Taylor. 

The Project Manager was Martin Jenks, Senior Democratic Services Adviser with additional 
support provided by Simon Bailey, Democratic Services Officer. 

Dale Poore, Contract Manager Highway Infrastructure Services, provided ongoing support to 
the Board throughout the review. 

Review Board meeting dates 

Scoping Board meeting: 

4 September 2019 

Review Board meetings: 

6 December 2019  

29 January 2020 

18 February 2020 

Witnesses providing evidence 

The Board would like to thank all the witnesses who provided evidence in person: 

ESCC Officers  
Karl Taylor, Assistant Director Operations 

Dale Poore, Contract Manager Highway Infrastructure Services 

Brian Banks, Team Manager - Road Safety 

Daniel Clarke, Parking Team Manager 

ESCC Councillors 

Councillor Claire Dowling, Lead Member for Transport and Environment 

 

Page 37



 

14 

Evidence papers 

Item Date considered 

Traffic Signs Manual Chapter 5 – Road Markings (2018). Department for Transport. December 2019 

Well-Managed Highway infrastructure – A Code of Practice (October 2016). UK 
Roads Liaison Group. 

December 2019 

 

 

Contact officer: Martin Jenks (Senior Democratic Services Adviser)  

Telephone: 01273 481327 
E-mail: martin.jenks@eastsussex.gov.uk  

Page 38

mailto:martin.jenks@eastsussex.gov.uk


  
Report to: Cabinet  

 

Date of meeting: 10 November 2020 
 

By: Director of Communities, Economy and Transport   
 

Title: Scrutiny Review of Road Markings 

 
Purpose: To provide the Cabinet with the opportunity to comment on the 

report of the Scrutiny Review of Road Markings 

 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
Cabinet is recommended to:  
1) note and welcome the report of the Place Scrutiny Committee; and  
2) advise the County Council that, in considering the report of the Scrutiny 

Committee, the Council be recommended to welcome the report of the 
Scrutiny Committee and to agree the response of the Director of 
Communities, Economy and Transport as set out in appendix 1 to this 
report.  

 

 
1.  Background 
 
1.1 The Place Scrutiny Committee at the meeting on 18 September 2019 agreed 
to establish a Review Board to undertake a Scrutiny Review of Road Markings. The 
scope of the review included; 

 

 The types of road markings and how frequently they are renewed;  

 the specifications for road markings and how they are applied;  

 whether utility company reinstatement works are replacing road markings 
adequately; 

 the road markings the Parking Team is responsible for (e.g. double yellow 
lines, parking bays etc.); and 

 the role of the Road Safety Team regarding road markings.  
 

1.2 The lines of enquiry which have been explored in this review are: 
 

 Could the current system of prioritisation for routine maintenance work to 
refresh/renew road markings be improved? 

 Why do some road markings appear to wear out more rapidly than 
expected?  

 How frequently are parking enforcement road markings renewed and are 
there additional road markings that could be paid for from the parking 
budget?   

 What do other local authorities spend on road markings and is the ESCC 
level of expenditure adequate? 

 
 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6b



2. Supporting information 
 
2.1 The Scrutiny Review of Road Markings is welcomed by the Department and 
the opportunity afforded by this review to explain to Members how the service is 
delivered. 
 
2.2 The Department’s response to the Review Board’s recommendations and 
action plan are set out in appendix 1.  

 
3. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations 
  
3.1 The Scrutiny Review has highlighted several Member concerns about the 
current approach to maintaining road markings in the county. It is recommended that 
the Cabinet agrees to the implementation of the action plan as detailed in appendix 
1.  
 
 
RUPERT CLUBB 
Director of Communities, Economy and Transport 
 

Contact Officer: Karl Taylor 
Telephone Number: 01273 482207 
Email: karl.taylor@eastsussex.gov.uk 
 
LOCAL MEMBERS 
ALL 
 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 

None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40

mailto:karl.taylor@eastsussex.gov.uk


Appendix 1 – Department’s Response to Review Recommendations (Road Markings)  

Recommendation Response 

The Review Board recommends that Officers continue to keep a 
watching brief on the development of new road marking materials 
and techniques and carry out trials to evaluate their effectiveness in 
reducing costs and increasing the durability of road markings.  

Noted. We take a proactive approach to keeping abreast of 
innovations and what is available on the market for the delivery of all 
our services. Following a recent audit of road markings across the 
County, we have undertaken workshops with two providers looking at 
the use of resin based materials (MMA) that can last up to three 
times longer than conventional materials. 
 
It is our intention to carry out a trial using MMA products on a number 
of safety critical markings on high trafficked sites to assess longevity 
and value for money. 

The Review Board recommends that the requirement to inspect road 
markings as part of routine inspections and the categories of road 
markings important for road safety are included in regular reminders 
to Highway Stewards and customer service staff.   

Agreed. This area of work has been identified as a key part of the 
ongoing training for both Highway Stewards and Customer Service 
Advisors. We will continue to monitor this closely and ensure that the 
improvements recently made and noted by the Committee continue. 

The Review Board recommends that the responsibilities of the utility 
companies and Highways England regarding road markings are 
made clear in the information provided on the East Sussex Highways 
web site.    

Agreed. The ESH website team are currently reviewing the 
appropriate place to upload this information to the website.  

The Review Board recommends that when considering the allocation 
of resources for highway maintenance and road transport schemes, 
increased priority is given to funding for road markings to reflect their 
contribution to road safety. 

Noted. As a highway authority our focus and top priority must be 
maintaining a safe road network for all users. Available funding and 
resources are allocated accordingly across the services to ensure we 
meet our policy requirements and maintain a safe network. This 
includes increasing road marking resources where necessary to 
ensure we continue to meet these requirements and allocating 
additional funding if appropriate.  

The Review Board recommends that the parking budget is recharged 
for all parking enforcement road marking renewal work with 
immediate effect, and the money used for additional highway road 
marking maintenance work. 

Noted.  The spend on refreshing parking enforcement road markings 
is relatively small, but where this can be easily identified it will be re-
charged to the parking account. The cost of large scale replacement 
of lines relating to parking enforcement following resurfacing are 
charged to the resurfacing (capital) scheme budget.  
 

P
age 41



The Review Board recommends that: 
a) should any new Government funding become available for 
highway maintenance, consideration is given to using a portion of it 
to improve the condition of road markings in the County (if allowed by 
the conditions attached to the funding). 
b) priority is given to renewing road markings that are important for 
road safety, such as those listed in paragraph 19 of the report, when 
determining the use of the additional one-off funding in 2020/21.  
c) consideration is given to including the funding to improve and 
maintain road marking in the base budget for the core services in the 
Highways Infrastructure Maintenance contract from 2023 onwards 
when it is re-procured. 

a) Noted. If any new government funding is made available, 
consideration will be given to using a portion for road markings. (if 
permitted)  
b) Noted. This is our current approach as safety critical markings are 
always a priority.  
c) Noted. Road marking is already included as a core service and 
consideration will be given as part of the reprocurement of the 
highways contract to the level of service that can be provided in new 
contract.   

 

P
age 42


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 2 October 2020
	5 Coronavirus Update
	6a Scrutiny Review of Road Markings - Report of the Place Scrutiny Committee
	Item 6a Appendix 1 - Scrutiny Review of Road Markings (report)

	6b Scrutiny Review of Road Markings - Observations on the Scrutiny Committee's report
	Item 6b - Appendix


